ENCLOSURE 4

MEMORANDUM FOR: | 7e 12 172

NOTE: This form must be returned to IMS no later than 48
hours after returning from the inspection.

FROM: .., snormation Management Section (IMS)
SUBJECT: INSPECTION REPORT DATA SHEET
The following fnspection report number(s) has (have) been iss you (or
Headquarters) for an inspection scheduled to end on 'fj§§g/§?57 :
Facility Docket Report No(s).
W Lve. /L SC-Z55 539 %514

In ormfer to track and trend 1nsp¢ction'iorrtspondenco timeliness, upon
retarning from the inspection, it is required that this form be submitted with

the foilowing information:
ENFORCEMENT

Clear (no violations)
Potentially Non-Escalated (Severity Levels [SL] 4 or § or

deviation)
Potentfally Escalated (SL 1-SL 3)

TYPE OF INSPECTION REPORT:

Individual (including Resident staff inspection reports)
Team (3 or more inspectors - excluding Resident staff inspection

reports)
Headquarters Inspection
Systematic Assessment of Licensee Performance (SALP)

Did the inspection ending date change? (;;;? or N)
New ending date: 7/201 QS
7 L4

“9!\.[0?0 Oi person CW'!HHQ this form

9704140305 970327
PDR  FOIA
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iTEM DETAIL REPORTS IFS - INSPECTION FOLLOW-UP SYSTEM DATE: 08/24/95
OPEN [TEMS SUMMARY REPORT BY SITE % !473:
SITE. STL ST LICIE
NI T RPT/IFS/ SEQ-NO ITEM REF NBR / SEVERITY SALP REPORT / STS CREATE CLOSEOUT CLSOUT CLSOUT UPDATING
ABRR EA/ NBR NOV-ID TYPE EA-NBR  SUPLMNT  AREA EVENT DT DATE  PRJ/ACT* ORG NO [MP  INSPECTION REPORTS
sn2 193-025 o0l IF] 12/01/93 0 12/07/93 2313
TITLE REVIEW OPERABILITY OF UNIT 2 MOV Mv-08-13 DURING THE

COMMENTS.  REVIEW OPERABILITY OF UNIT 2 MOV MV-08-13 DURING THE PERIOD
JULY 20 TO OCTOBER 19. 1993

STL1 194008 03 URI ENG 04/08/94 O 04/13/94 2312 JvL
TITLE QUALITY LEVEL OF PORV AND SRV DISCHARGE PIPING
ST [ 94010 01 VIO 4°1 ENG  04/28/94 0 05/03/94 2312 BRC
TITLE FAILURE TO MEET WELD PREP DIMENSIONAL TOLERANCES ON
COMMENTS CONTRARY TO 10 CFR 5, APPENDIX R. CRITERION V AND l! N

APRIL 7, 1994 ACTIVITIES AFFECTING QUALITY WERE NOT
ACCOMPLISHED IN ACCORDANCE WITH PRESCRIBED PROCEDURES
AND THE PROGRAM FOR INSPECTION OF ACTIVITIES AFFECTING
QUALITY WAS NOT EXECUTED TO VERIFY CONFORMANCE WITH
DOCUMENTED PROCEDURES IN THAT. THE J-WELD PREP BEVEL
ANGLES WERE GROUND TC 50 - 52 DEGREES FOR NOZZLE “C"
AND 38 - 45 DEGREES FOR NOZZLE "B™ THE PREPS WERE
INSPECTED AND ACCEPTED BY QC

STL1 194-011 01 VIO 4/1 ENG 06/02/94 O 06/08/94 2313
TITLE INADEQUATE CORRECTIVE ACTION FOR MOVS WHICH STALLED

STl 194-011 02 IFl ENG  06/02/94 O 06/08/94 2313
TITLE INADEQUATE RECOGNITION OF MOV TEST PRESSURE AND FLOW

STLI 194011 03 IFI ENG  06/02/94 0 06/08/94 2313
TITLE LACK OF INSTRUCTIONS OR GUIDANCE FOR TRENDING

STLL 1 94-019 02 URI O0PS  10/20/94 0O 10/21/94 2321
TITLE ACCEPTABILITY OF MAINTAINING AN SRO AS AN RO IN REQL

COMMENTS  DETERMINATION OF ACCEPTABILITY OF MAINTAINING LICENSED SRO
IN REQUALIFICATION TRAINING AS AN RO

STL2 1 94-019 02 URI oPs 10/20/94 0 10/21/94 2321
STl 194-019 03 iFi oPs 10/20/94 0 10/21/94 2321
TITLE CONFLICTING PROCEDURAL GUIDANCE FOR ACTIVE LICENSES

COMMENTS . CONFLICTING PROCEDURAL GUIDANCE CONCERNING MAINTAINING THE
LICENSE STATUS OF THE OPERATIONS SUPERVISGR
STL2 I 94-019 63 IFI oPs 10/20/94 0 10/21/94 2321

oy



ITEM DETAIL REPORTS IFS . INSPECTION FOLLOW-UP SYSTEM DATE 08/24/95
OPEN TTEMS SUMMARY REPORT BY SITE T 547 34
SITE ST ST LECTE '
UNIT RPT/IFS/ SEQ-NO ITEM REF NBR / SEVERITY SALP REPORT / STS CREATE CLOSEOUT CLSOUT CLSOUT  UPDATING
2888 EA/ NBR NOV-ID TYPE FA-NBR  SUPLMNT  AREA EVENT DT DATE  PRIACT* ORG NO EMP  INSPECTION REPORTS
st 194300 01 IFI S 11/17/98 0 11/28/94 221
TIE PROCEDURAL GUIDANCE FOR REMOVAL OF RCPS PRICR TO 500

COMMENTS PROCEDURAL GUIDANCE IS LACKING FOR REMOVAL OF AR RCP FROM
SERVICE PRIOR TO RCS TEMPERATURE DECREASING BELOW 500 DEGREES
FAHRENHEIT  PLANT PARAMETERS CAN CHANGE FAST ENOUGH SUCH
THAT PROCEDURAL GUIDANCE IS NOT OBTAINED UNTIL AFTER THE RCS
TEMPERATURE HAS DECREASED BELOW THE 500 DEGREES FAHRENHEIT

ST N 94-332 01 LER  94-006-01 07/14/94 © 19/11/94
TITLE TRIP CIRCUIT BREAKER FAILURE DUE TO A BROKEN PIECE OF

STLI N94.376 02 LER 94-008-00 11704/94 0 12/15/94
TITLE INADVERTENT CONTAINMENT ISOLATION SIGNAL
COMMENTS INADVERTENT CONTAINMENT ISOLATION SIGNAL (CIS) CAUSED BY FAILURE
OF THE 8 INSTRUMENT INVERTER CONCURRENT WITH CHANNEL D CIS IN
TRIPPED CONDITION

STLY I195-001 01 VIO OPS  02/23/95 0O 03/06/95
TITLE FAILURE TO PERFORM TS- waIRED SAMPLING OF THE IAl SIT

ST 195-001 02 vi0 4/1 MAINT 02/23/95 © 03/06/95
TITLE FATLURE TG FOLLOW PROCEDURE 2-1L0I-7-89

STLL N 95-004 01 LER  94-010-00 11/24/94 O 01/04/95
TITLE INADVERTENT B TRAIN ENGINEERED SAFEGUARDS FEATURES ACTU
COMMENTS INADVERTENT B TRAIN ENGINEERED SAFEGUARDS FEATURES ACTUATION
SIGNAL (ESFAS) DUE TO A DEFICIENT INSTRUMENT AND CONTROL TEST

STLI N 95-005 01 LER  94-009-00 11/22/94 0 01/04/95
TITLE INADVERTENT SAFETY INJECTION ACTUATION SIGNAL/CONTAINME
COMMENTS INADVERTENT SAFETY INJECTION ACTUATION SIGNAL/CONTAINMENT
ISOLATION SIGNAL DUE TO AN INVALID HIGH PRESSURIZER PRESSURE

SIGNAL
ST [95-005 01 viC 4/1 ENG  06/05/95 © 06/19/95
TITLE FAILURE TO IMPLEMENT DESIGN REQUIREMENT SPECIFIED IN PC/M 039-29

COMMENTS . CONTRARY TO 10 CFR 50. APPENDIX B CRITERIA II1 AND V AS OF AR
L 26.1995 DESIGN CHANGE ACTIVITES WERE NOT PERFORMED IN ACCORMA
NCE WITH REQUIREMENTS IN THAT OVERLOAD HEATERS MODEL NO. 123F1%°
C WERE INSTALLED IN MCC 2A COMPARTMENT NO DR3 FOR BATTERY CHAR
GED 2AA. INSTEAD OF THE REQUIRED MODEL NO 123F114C THE INSTALL
ED OVERLOAD HEATERS WERE LESS CONSERVATIVE THAN WERE FOUND TC BE
LESS CONSERVATIVE THAT THE MODEL SPECIFIED BY THE PC/M

(B Closed 4514 4 (loxd 4424

Dcrosed G501
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2232

22) cloxd 95-09

D clowed 1509

2313

95-005



ITEM DETAIL REPORTS IFS - INSPECTION FOLLOW-UP SYSTEM DATE  08/24/95

OPEN TTEMS SUMMARY REPORT BY SITE I 847'%
SITE ST ST LUCIE
NI T RPT/IFS/ SEQ-NO ITEM REF NBR / SEVERITY SALP REPORT / STS CREATE CLOSEOUT CLSOUT CLSOUT PDAIIG
ABER EA/ NBR NOV-ID TYPE EA-NBR  SUPLMNT  AREA EVENT DT DATE  PRI/ACT* OPG NC EWP  ILSPECTION RENORTS
ST 1 95.005 02 ENG  06/05/95 0 06/19/95 2313 95-005
"INE SOUER SUPPLY UPGRADE FOR THE EXISTING. STEAN GENERATOR WIDE RAMGE
sn2 [95-005 02 (RI ENG  06/05/95 0 06/19/95 2313 95-205
sTL2 95005 03 URI ENG  06/05/95 O 06/19/95 21 95-005
TITLE INCORE INSTRUMENT WIRING ERRORS
STl 195010 01 WOV MAINT 06/23/95 0O 07/06/95 2% 95-010 ~ ;.
TIME MISSED SURVEILLANCE ON 1B EMERGENCY DIESEL GENERATOR Closed 45-10
st N95-061 02 LER 95-001-00 02/16/95 0 03/21/95 2232
TITLE 1A3 4160 VOLT BUS LOAD SHED DURING REPLACEMENT OF FAILE

COMMENTS  1A3 4160 VOLY BUS LOAD SHED DURING REPLACEMENT OF FAILED 2X-5
RELAY DUE TO PROCEDURAL DEFICTENCY

sT.2 N 95-080 03 LER 95-002-00 02/21/95 0O 03/31/95 2232
TITLE AUTOMATIC REACTOR TRIP ON LOW STEAM GENERATOR WATER
COMMENTS . AUTOMATIC REACTOR TRIP ON LOW STEAM GENERATOR WATER LEVEL DUE
TO A FAILED LEVEL TRANSMITTER

STL2 N 95-081 LER  95-001-00 02/21/95 © 03731795 2232
TITLE LOW PRESSURE SAFETY INJECTION PUMP FOUND TO BE INOP
COMMENTS  LOW PRESSURE SAFETY INJECTION PUMP FOUND TO BE INOPERABLE
DURING ASME QUARTERLY CODE RUN DUE TO AIR BINDING

snz N 95-127 03 LER 95-003-00 04/10/95 0 06/08/95 2232
TITLE MISSED TECHNICAL SPECIFICATION SCHEDULED SURVEILLANCE DUE TO
COMMENTS:  DUE TO PROCEDURAL DEF ICIENCY

STLL K 95-150 03 LER 95-002-00 05/26795 0 06/27/95 2232 95-002
TITLE MISSED EMERGENCY DIESEL GENERATOR SURVEILLANCE
COMMENTS . DUE TO PROCEDURAL DEFICIENCY

STL1 N 95-181 02 LER 95-003-00 07/08/95 O 08/10/95 2232 95-003
TITLE AUTOMATIC REACTOR TRIP DURING TURBINE OVERSPEED SURVEILLANCE

COMMENTS.  SURVEILLANCE TESTING DUE TO PERSONNEL ERROR

NOTE DEFINITION FOR CHARACTER PRECEEDING REPORT NO I = INSPECTION REPORT NUMBER. E = EA NUMBER (ENFORCEMENT / NOV ITEM)
N = IFS NUMBER NUMBER USED TO IDENTIFY NON- INSPECTION ITEMS

TOTAL OPEN ITEMS === > 28 *IF ITEM IS OPEN. PROJECTED CLOSEOUT DATE IS REPORTED
TOTAL OPEN REPORT SEQUENCES ====>> 25 IF ITEM IS CLOSED. ACTUAL CLOSEOUT DATE IS REPORTED




ITEM DETAIL REPORTS IFT - INSPECTION FOLLOW-UP SYSTEM

CLOSEOUT
PRI/ACT*

DATE. 06/26/95
TIME 12 24 29
PAGE - 2

CLSOUT  CLSOuT UPDATING

ORG NO WP

INSPECTION REPORTS

OPEN ITEMS SUMMARY REPORT BY SITE
SITE. STL ST LUCIE
UNIT RPT/IFS/ SEQ-ND ITEM REF NBR / SEVERITY SALP REPORT / STS CREATE
ABBR EA/ NBR NOV-ID TYPE EA-NBR  SUPLMNT  AREA EVENT DT DATE
sTn2 1 93-025 01 iFl 12/01/93 0 12707/93
TITLE. REVIEW OPERABILITY OF UNIT 2 MOV MV-08-13 DURING THE

COMMENTS . REVIEW OPERABILITY OF UNIT 2 MOV My-08-13 DURING THE PERIOD
JULY 20 TO OCTOBER 19 1993

STLY 194-008 03 ENG 04/08/94 0O 04/13/94
TITLE QUALTTY LEVEL G PORV AND SRV DISCHARGE PIPING

STL1 1 94-G10 01 vio 4/1 ENG 04/28/94 0 05/03/94
TITLE: FAILURE TO MEET WELD PREP DIMENSIONAL TOLERANCES ON
COMMENTS  CONTRARY TO 10 CFR 5, APPENDIX R. CRITERION V AND XI. ON

APRIL 7. 1994 ACTIVITIES AFFECTING QUALITY WERE NOT
ACCOMPL ISHED TN ACCORDANCE WITH PRESCRIBED PROCEDURES
AND THE PROGRAM FOR INSPECTION OF ACTIVITIES AFFECTING
QUALITY WAS NOT EXECUTED TO VERIFY CONFORMANCE WITH
DOCUMENTED PROCEDURES IN THAT. THE J-WELD PREP BEVEL
ANGLES WERE GROUND TO 50 - 52 DEGREES FOR NOZILE "C”
AND 38 - 45 DEGREES FOR NOZZLE "B"  THE PREPS WERE
INSPECTED AND ACCEPTED BY QC

STL I %9a-011 01 vio 4/1 ENG 06/0U2/94 © 06/08/94
TITLE INADEQUATE CORRECTIVE ACTION FOR MOVS WHICH STALLED

STL I 94-011 02 IF] ENG 06/02/94 O 06/08/94
TITLE INADEQUATE RECOGNITION OF MOV TEST PRESSURE AND FLOW

STLY I 98-011 03 IFI ENG 06/02/94 0O 06/08/94
TITLE LACK OF INSTRUCTIONS OR GUIDANCE FOR TRENDING

STL1 [94-019 02 URI oPS 10/20/94 0 10/21/94
TITLE ACCEPTABILITY OF MAINTAINING AN SRO AS AN RO IN REQL
COMMENTS DETERMINATION OF ACCEPTABILITY OF MAINTAINING LICENSED SRO
IN REQUALIFICATION TRAINING AS AN RO

sn2 1 94-019 02  URI 0Ps 10/20/94 © 10/21/94
STLL 194016 03 IFl QPs 16/20/94 0O 10/21/94
TITLE CONFLICTING PROCEDURAL GUIDANCE FOR ACTIVE LICENSES

COMMENTS  CONFLICTING PROCEDURAL GUIDANCE CONCERNING MAINTAINING THE
LICENSE STATUS OF THE OPERATIONS SUPERVISOR

STL2 1 94-019 03 IF1 oPs 10720/94 0 10/21/94
STLl [ 94-300 01 IF1 oPsS 11/17/94 © 11/28/94
TITLE PROCEDURAL GUIDANCE FOR REMOVAL OF RCPS PRIOR TO 500
<
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1TEM DETAIL REPORTS IFS - INSPECTION FOLLOW-UP SYSTEM

OPEN ITEMS SUMMARY REPORT BY SITE

SHe. =W ST LUC3E
UNIT RPT/IFS/ SEQ-NO Iie~ °FF NBR / SEVERITY SALP REPORT / STS (REATE
ABBR EA/ NBR NOV-ID TYPE EA-Non  SUPLMNT  AREA EVENT OT DATE

COMMENTS  PROCEDURAL GUIDANCE IS LACKING FOR Rimu,' OF AN RCP FROM
SERVICE PRIOR TO RCS TEMPERATURE DECREASING Bruo. <00 DEGREES
FAMRENHETT  PLANT PARAMETERS CAN CHANGE FAST ENOUGH sui
THAT PROCEDURAL GUIDANCE IS NOT OBTAINED UNTIL AFTER THE RCS
TEMPERATURE HAS DECREASED BELOW THE 500 DEGREES FAHRENHEIT

sTL2 N 94-332 I LER  94-006-01 07/14/94 0 10/11/94
TITLE TRIP CIRCUIT BREAKER FAILURE DUE TO A BROKEN PIECE OF

ST N94-376 03 LER 9a-50C 20 ; 11/04/94 0 12/15/94
TITLE: INADVERTENT CONTAINMENT ISOLA:iGn SIANAL
COMMENTS INADVERTENT CONTAINMENT ISOLATION SIGRAL (Lis) TAUSED BY FAILURE
OF THE B INSTRUMENT INVERTER CONCURRENT WITH CHANNEL O 7S IN
TRIPPED CONDITION

ST I 95-001 o1 VIO 4/1 OPS  92/23/95 0O 03/06/95
TITLE FAILURE TO PERFORM TS-REQUIRED SAMPLING OF THE IAl SIT

STL2 195001 02 VIO 4/1 MAINT 02/23/95 0O 03/06/95
TITLE FAILURE TO FOLLOW PROCEDURE 2-101-T-89

STLY N 95-004 01 LER  94-010-00 11/724/94 0O 01/04/95
TITLE. INADVERTENT B TRAIN ENGINEERED SAFEGUARDS FEATURES ACTU
COMMENTS INADVERTENT B TRAIN ENGINEERED SAFEGUARDS FEATURES ACTUATION
SIGNAL (ESFAS) DUE TO A DEFICIENT INSTRUMENT AND CONTROL TEST

PROCEDURE .
STL N 95-005 LER  94-009-00 11722/94 O 01/04/95
TITLE INADVERTENT SAFETY INJECTION ACTUATION SIGNAL/CONTAINME

COMMENTS INADVERTENT SAFETY INJECTION ACTUATION SIGNAL/CONTAINMENT
ISOLATION SIGNAL DUC TO AN INVALID HIGH PRESSURIZER PRESSURE

SIGNAL
STL2 I 95-005 01 VIO 4/1 ENG 06/05/95 0 06/19/95
TITLE FAJLURE TO IMPLEMENT DESIGN REQUIREMENT SPECIFIED IN PC/M 039-29

COMMENTS CONTRARY TO 10 CFR S50 APPENDIX B. CRITERIA II1 AND Vv AS OF APRI
L 26.1995 DESIGN CHANGE ACTIVITES WERE NOT PERFORMED IN ACCORDA
WCE WITH REQUIREMENTS IN THAT OVERLOAD HEATERS MODEL NO  123F104
C WERE INSTALLED IN MCC 2A. COMPARTMENT NO DR3 FOR BATTERY CHAR
GED 2AA. INSTEAD OF THE REQUIRED MODEL NO 123F114C  THE INSTALL
ED OVERLOAD HEATERS WERE LESS CONSERVATIVE THAN WERE FOUND TC BE
LESS CONSERVATIVE THAT THE MODEL SPECIFIED BY THE PC/M

DATE: 06/26/95
TIME: 12 2¢.29
PAGE 3

CLOSEGUT  CLSOUT CLSOUT UPDATING
PRI/ACT* ORG NO EMP  INSPECTION REPORTS
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* OOT SEF cierinoh CoorefTS St Tenasel
2232 * \"DZCO™ LESSens Puaa) Tl ~N M ffeC. .

+ STRRDS A0 341,22 4 339

2232

2312 95-005



ITEM DETAIL REPORTS IFS - INSPECTION FOLLOW-UP SYSTEM

OPEN ITEMS SUMMARY REPORT BY SITE
SITE. STL ST LCIE

UNTTY RPT/IFS/ SzQ-NO ITEM REF NBR / SEVERITY SALP REPORT / STS CREATE
ABER EA/ NBR NOV-I0 TYPE EA-NBR SUPLMNT  AREA EVENT DT DATE

DATE  06/26/95

TIME: 12
PAGE

CLOSEQUT  CLSOUT CLSOUT UPDATING

PRI/ACT™

ORG NO

e

INSPECTION REPORTS

2429
4

STl 195-005 02 ORI ENG 06/05/95 © 06/19/95
PONER SUPPLY UPGRADE FOR THE EXISTING STEAM GENERATOR WIDE RANGE
ST2 195-005 02 URI ENG  06/05/95 O 06/19/95

195005 03 ORI ENG 0b/05/95 O 06/19/95
TIME INCORE INSTRUMENT WIRING ERRORS

2313
2313
2313

STL1 N 95-061 LER 95-001-00 02/16/95 0 03/21/95
TITLE 1A3 4160 VOLT BUS LOAD SHED DURING REPLATEMENT OF FAILE
COMMENTS 1A3 4160 VOLT BUS LOAD SHED DURING REPLACUMENT OF FAILED 2X-5
RELAY DUE TO PROCEDURAL DEFICIENCY

sTL2 N95-080 05 LER 95-002-00 02/21/95 © 03/31/95
TITLE AUTOMATIC REACTOR TRIP ON LOW STEAM GEMERATOR WATER
COMMENTS  AUTOMATIC REACTOR TRIP ON LOW STEAM GENERATOR WATER LEVEL DUE
TO A FAILED LEVEL TRANSMITTER

sn2 N95-081 01 LER 95-001-00 02/21/95 0 03/31/95
TITLE LOW PRESSURE SAFETY INJECTION PUMP FOUND TO BE INOP
COMMENTS:  LOW PRESSURE SAFETY INJECTION PUMP FOUND TO BE INOPERABLE
DURING ASME GUARTERLY CODE RUN DUE TC AIR 'BINDING

STz = N9 127 03 LER  95-003-00 04/10/95 © 06/08/95
TITLE . MISSED TECHNICAL SPECIFICATION SCHEDULED' SURVEILLANCE DUE TC
COMMENTS.  DUE 7O PROCEDURAL DEFICIENCY

2232

2232

2232

NOTE  DEFINITION FOR CHARACTER PRECEEDING REPORT NO. I = INSPECTION REPORT NUMBER, E = EA NUMBER (ENFORCEMENT / NOV ITEM)
N = IFS NUMBER. NUMBER USED TO IDENTIFY NON- INSPECTION ITEMS

TOTAL OPEN [TEMS ==
TOTAL OPEN REPORT SEQUENCES ====>> 23

m=m=> 26 *1 ITEM IS OPEN, PROJECTED CLOSEOUT DATE IS REPORTED
It ITEM IS CLOSED. ACTUAL CLOSEOUT DATE IS REPORTED
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DATE RPT #  UNIT
w0

AREA ENG
01/05/9% 95-022 0
01/05/96 95-022 ¢©

01/05/96 95-022 €

SAN

SANV

SAQY

ISSUE

ST LUCTE SALP INPUT FEEDERS UPDATE

EXAMPLES

50 59 PROGRAM - & EVALS REVIEWED
. 55 PROGRAM

50 53 PROGRAM

ASSESSMENT INSPECTOR

2 DISCREPANCIES ASSOCIATED WITH ADEQUACY OF BASES FOR CONCLUSIONS  SMITH
IDENTIFIED AND RESOLVED

TRAINING PROG DOES NOT REQUIRE PROOF OF ATTAINMENT OF SKILLS FOR SHITH
3059 PRACTICIONERS

FROCEDURAL GUTDANCE ESTABLISHED SMITH

QN * 09 ¥addM
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SALP DATE
APEA

L

** SALP AREA M3

X

A X 232X & aa2a

2 X% 3 2

12731794 95-001
02/03/95 95-001
02703/%5 95-001

82/03/95 95-001
12/01/95 95-021
12/01495 95-021

12701795 95-021

61705796 95-022
01705796 95822
01/05/96 95-922
02/03/95 95-001

12/01/95 95-021

01/05/9% 95-022

01/05/9 95-022

01/05/96 95-022

02703795 95-001

02/03/95 25-001

uRiT
)

NN NN

ISSUE

CORRZCTIVE ACTION
CORRECTIVE MAINTENANCE

CORRECTIVE MAINTENANCE

CORRECTIVE MAINTENANCE
CORRECTIVE MAINTENANCE
CORRECTIVE MAINTENANCE

CORRECTIVE MAINTENANCE

COPRECTIVE MAINTENANCE
CORRECTIVE MAINTENANCE
CORRECTIVE MAINTENANCE
DIAGNOSTIC MAINTENANCE

DIAGNOSTIC MAINTENANCE

OUTAGE ACTIVITIES

DUTAGE ACTIVITIES

CUTAGE ACTIVITIES

PREDICTIVE MAINTENANCE

PREVENTIVE MAINTENANCE

ST LUCIE SALP INPUT FEEDERS UPDATE

FAILURE TO SALE SIT

CALIBRATICA OF CONT PARTICULATE MONITCR TECHNICIANS KNOWLEDGEABLE. CAL 1AW PROCEDURE

20 AFP INSPECTION/REPAIR

CALTBRATION OF PZR LEVEL CHANNELS
REVIEW OF FREEZE SEAL PRACTICES

WIDt RAMGE SG LEVEL UPGRADE FOR POST
ACCIDENT CONDITIONS

REPLACEMENT OF 3 PR WATER SPACE AND 9
RCS LOOP NOZZLES

RX VESSEL HEAD D-RING LEAKX
T/R OF SCv-25-14
2A2 RCP SEAL PACKAGE REPLACEMENT

TROUBLESHOOTING OF INSTABILITIES IN
LETDOWN CONTROL VALVES
U-2 56 EDDY CURRENT TESTING

U-2 POST-RFQ CONTAINMENT CLOSEQUT

ICT FLANGE WORK
U-2 RFQ SCOPE
1A CEA NG PHASE CONNECTION FAILURE

IDENTIFIED PRIGR TC MG FAILURE
PMS ON UNIT 2 FWIV

ASSESSMENT

3%‘53{#6{0”5‘“ IN IR 93-023  INATTENTION TO DETAIL BY GPERATORS - PREVATTE

PREVATTE
WELL -COORDINATED TRAIN OUTAGE ONE DRAWING DEFICIENCY INVOLVING AN PREVATTE

%gﬂﬁ INFO-ONLY DRAWING [N WORK PACKAGE WHICH COMPLICATED

THOROUGH PRE-JOB BRIEF. I8C WELL-PREPARED, EXECUTION PROFESSIONAL  PREVATTE
IN ACREEMENT WITH MC 9900 PREVATTE
WELL MANAGED MODIFICATION PREVATTE
MANAGED VERY EFFECTIVELY PREVATTE
PROPER DISPOSITION. PRE-JOB BRIEF FOR HONING POOR PREVATTE
SAT MAINTENANCE . BUT PODR PRACTICE OF SITTING ON S-R DUCTWCSK PREVATTE
ROOT CAUSE/CORRECTIVE ACTIONS DETAILED. THOROUGH. PREVATTE

FAILURE OF IV PROCESS RESULTED IN VALVE CYCLING SMUT DUE TO ROLLED  PREVATTE
LEADS - VIO 95-01-02

gmcmnmv CONDUCTED. PROPERLY QUALTFIED EXAMINERS. WELL-WRITTEN PREVATTE
NUMBER OF DEFICIENCIES IDENTIFIED INDICATED A DECLINE OVER
PREVIOUSLY MONITORED CLOSE POSSIBLE IMPROVING TREND IN
EFFECTIVENESS OF CLEANUP

KFICIE(IES ADDRESSED APPROPRIATELY. KNOWLEDGEABLE WORKERS.
FRE CONTROLS DISPLAYED BY QU INSPECTOR IR

ACTIVITIES SHOWED 115% INCREASE OVER THOSE m
MGMT ADDRESSING EXISTING DEFICIENCIES TO IMPROVE PL

PREDICTIVE MAINT PROGRAM A STREMGTH  COMPETENT AND MOTIVATED STAFF PREVATTE

PREVATTE

lmluﬂﬂ 0F  PREVATTE
ANT PERFORMANCE

NO DEFICIENCIES TDENTIFIED PREVATTE
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** SALP AREA PT

X 332X

02/83/9 95-091
12701795 95-821
62753795 95-001
12/01/95 95-021
01705/96 95-022

02/63/95 95-001
12701795 95-921

ISSUE

FIRE PROTECTHON
FIRE PROTECTION
PHYSICAL SECURITY
PHYSICAL SECURITY

PHYSICAL SECURITY RADIATION
PROTECTION. FIRE PROTECTION

RAD CONTROLS
RAD CONTROLS

ST LUCIE SALP INPUT FEEDERS UPDATE

EXAMPLES

MONTHLY DBSERVATIONS
MONTHLY OBSERVATIONS
MONTHLY DBSERVATIONS
MONTHLY OBSERVATIONS
MONTHLY OBSERVATIONS

MONTHLY OBSERVATIONS
MONTHLY OBSERVATIONS

ASSESSMENT

SATISFACTORY
SATISFACTORY
SATISFACTORY
SATISFACTORY
SATISFACTORY

SATISFACTORY
SATISFACTORY

PREVATTE
PREVATTE
PREVATTE
PREVATTE
PREVATTE

PREVATTE
PREVATTE



Unit

Date

LER

SLTRIPR . MTX

St. Lucie Trip Summary
Revision 1 1/10/96
New Information Shaded

Auto/Manual

Description

1/9/94

94-001

Manual

Tripped due to low SGWL due to
trip of one MFP. Cause for MFP
trip not conclusively
established.

3/28/94

94-003

Auto

Maintenance supervisor opened
generator exciter breaker on
wroqgrunit.

4/3/94

94-004

Auto

Trip due to
overcurrent/undervoltage through
TCBs due to CEDM MGs fed by out-
of-sync AC sources.

4/23/94

94-003

Auto

Trip during RPS functiona’
testing due to preexisting
wiring deficiency in RPS cabinet
bypass switch.

6/6/94

94-005

Auto

Main generator differential
current trip due to debris blown
across 1A main transformer
output terminals during severe
thunderstorm.

10/26/94

94-007

Auto

Loss of load trip due to
flashover in a switchyard
potential transformer.

2/21/95

95-002

Auto

Low SGWL trip due to failed
level transmitter.

7/8/95

95-003

Auto

Turbine overspeed trip due to
operator error while performing
surveillance test

11/17/95

95-004

Manual

Trwgped due to lTow SGWL when FRV
failed to mid position.

1/5/96

Pending

Manual

Tripped on high main generator
gas temperature when valve
regulating cooling water to
hydrogen coolers went closed.



St. Lucie Enforcement Summary

Rev 1 1/10/96

New Entries Shaded

DESCRIPTION

FAILURE TO FOLLOW CLEARANCE
PROCEDURE

FAILURE TO FOLLOW EQUIPMENT

CLEARANCE ORDER PROCEDURE AND
REQUIRE INDEPENDENT VERIFICATION
OF A TECHNICAL SPECIFICATION
RELATED COMPONENT

FAILURE TO PERFORM REACTOR
COOLANT SYSTEM BORON
SURVEILLANCE

STL1 | 95-20-1 IV | VIO | FAILURE TO TAKE PROMPT ENG

STLZ CORRECTIVE ACTION ON RELIEF
VALVE DEFICIENCIES

STLZ | 95-18-3 | IV | VIO | FAILURE TO ADEQUATELY DESIGN AND | ENG
TEST THE EMERGENCY DIESEL
GENERATOR 2 A/B ENGINFERED
SAFETY FEATURE CONTROL LOGIC

STL1 | 95-18-2 | IV | VIO | FAILURE TO FOLLOW CLEARANCE 0PS
PROCEDURE

STL1 | 95-18-1 IV | VIO | FAILURE TO FOLLOW PROCEDURES AND | OPS
MAINTAIN CURRENT AND VALID LOG
ENTRIES IN THE RACK LOG AND
VALVE SWITCH DEVIATION LOG

STL1 | 95-17-1 IV | VIO | FAILURE TO FOLLOW PROCEDURES FOR | MS

STL2 MATERIAL CONTROLS

STL1 | 95-16-1 [11 | VIO | LTUP INOPERABILITY DUE TO PORV MS

STL2 cp FAILURE

STL1 | 95-15-7 IV | VIO | FAILURE TO FOLLOW PROCEDURES 0PS I
DURING VENTING OF ECCS

STL1 | 95-15-6 | IV | VIO | FAILURE TO INITIAL MAINTENANCE MS
PROCEDURE STEPS AS WORK WAS
PERFORMED

STL1 | 95-15-5 | Iv | VIO | FAILURE TO FOLLOW PROCEDURE AND | OPS
DOCUMENT A DEFICIENCY ON STAR I

STL1 | 95-15-4 | Iv | VIO | FAILURE TO FOLLOW PROCEDURES 0PS
DURING AL IGNMENT OF SDC

STL1 | 95-15-3 | IV | VIO | FAILURE TO FOLLOW PROCEDURE AND | OPS
DOCUMENT ABNORMAL VALVE POSITION

STL1 | 95-15-2 |1V | VIO | TWO EXAMPLES OF FAILURE TO 0PS

FOLLOW PROCEDURES DURING RCP
RESTAGING

VIODE UR ). MTX



iy

UNIT

St. Lucie Enforcement Summary

Rev 1 1/10/96

New Entries Shaded

NUMBER SV ITEM | DESCRIPTION SALP
LVL | TYPE AREA
STLI | 95-15-1 IV VIO FAILURE TO FOLLOW PROCEDURES AND | OPS
BLOCK MSIS ACTUATION
STLZ | 95-05-1 v VIO FAILURE TO IMPLEMENT DESIGN ENG
REQUIREMENT SPECIFIED IN PC/M
039-29
STL2 | 95-01-2 IV VIO FAILURE TO FOLLOW PROCEDURE 2- MS
LOI-T-89
STL1 195-01-1 IV VIO FAILURE TO PERFORM TS-REQUIRED 0PS
SAMPLING OF THE 1A1 SIT
STL1 | 94-24-02 | IV VIO INADEQUATE PROCESS FOR CHANGES MS
STL? TO VENDOR TECH MANUALS :
STL1 | 94-13-02 DEV INADEQUATE EMERGENCY SUPPLIES IN | PS
STL2 CONTROL ROOMS
STL1 | 94-22-02 | IV vIf IMPROPER MODIFICATION OF CONTROL | OPS
» ROOM L0OGS
STL1 | 94-22-01 | IV VIO INADEQUATE CORRECTIVE ACTIONS TO | OPS
NRC VIOLATION
STLZ |94-15-01 | IV VIO FAILURE TO PERFORM TS REQUIRED oPS
SHUTDOWN
| STL1 [ 94-12-01 | IV VIO INADEQUATE CORRECTIVE ACTION FOR | ENG
| STL? PREVIOUS VIOLATION
t STL1 | 94-11-01 | IV VIO INADEQUATE CORRECTIVE ACTION FOR | ENG
MOVS WHICH STALLED
STL1 | 94-10-01 | 1V VIO FAILURE TO MEET WELD PREP ENG
| DIMENSIONAL TOLERANCES ON
STL2 | 94-08-02 | IV VIO INADEQUATE INSPECTION & ENG
EVALUATION OF WATERHAMMER EVENT
STL2 | 94-08-01 | 1V VIO FAILURE TO FOLLOW CORRECTIVE MS
ACTION PROCEDURE
STL1 | 93-24-01 | IV VIO FAILURE TO FOLLOW AND MAINTAIN OPS
: RESIN TRANSFER
Summary
SL 1 SL IT ] SL IIT | SL IV] DEV
0 0 1 29 1




NUMBER

St. Lucie LER Summary
Revision 1 1/10/96
New Information Shaded

DESCRIPTION

RPT
DATE

LERE !

MTY

96-002-00

MANUAL REACTOR TRIP DURING UNIT
SHUTDOWN FOLLOWING DROPPED
CONTROL ELEMENT ASSEMBLY

2/22/96

96-001-00

MANUAL REACTOR TRIP DUE TO HIGH
MAIN GENERATOR COLD GAS
TEMPERATURE

1/5/96

95-010-00

MANUAL REACTOR TRIP DUE TO LOW
STEAM GENERATOR WATER LEVEL
CAUSED BY MAIN FEEDWATER
REGULATING VALVE CLOSURE

11/16/95

95-009-00

MISSED TECHNICAL SPECIFICATION
SCHEDULED SURVEILLANCE DUE TO
PERSONNEL ERROR

10/19/95

STL2

95-004-00

REACTOR COOLANT SYSTEM
INSTRUMENT NOZZLE LEAKAGE CAUSED
BY PRIMARY WATER STRESS
CORROSION CRACKING.

10/10/95

ENG

STL]

95-008-00

HIGH PRESSURE SAFETY INJECTION
PUMP OPERATION DURING PLANT
CONDITIONS NOT ALLOWED BY
TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS DUE TO
PERSONNEL ERROR

08/28/95

0PS

STL1

95-007-00

INADVERTENT CONTAINMENT SPRAY
VIA 1A LOW PRESSURE SAFETY
INJECTION "UMP WHILE VENTING THE
EMERGENCY CORE COOLING SYSTEM
DURING STARTUP DUE TO INADEQUATE
PROCEDURE .

08/17/95

OPS

STLI

95-006-00

LOSS OF REACTOR COOLANT
INVENTORY THROUGH A SHUTDOWN
COOLING RELIEF VALVE DUE TO LACK
OF DESIGN MARGIN.

08/10/95

ENG

STL]

95-005-00

PRESSURIZER POWER OPERATED
RELIEF VALVES (PORV) INOPERABLE
DUE TO PERSONNZL ERROR

08/09/95

STL]

95-004-00

HURRICANE ERIN AT ST. LUCIE

08/01/95

STL1

95-003-01

REVISION TO: AUTOMATIC REACTOR
TRIP DURING TURBINE OVERSPEED
SURVETLLANCE TESTING DUE TO
PERSONNEL ERROR.

07/08/95

STLI

95-003-00

AUTOMATIC REACTOR TRIP DURING
TURBINE OVERSPEED SURVEILLANCE
TESTING DUE TO PERSONNEL ERROR.

07/08/”¢

95-003




St. Lucie LER Summary
Revision 1 1/10/96
New Information Shaded

NUMBER

DESCRIPTION

RPT
DATE

REF
RPT

SALP
AREA

95-002-00

MISSED EMERGENCY DIESEL
GENERATOR SURVEILLANCE DUE TO
PROCEDURAL DEFICIENCY.

05/26/95

95-002

MS

95-005-00

MISSED TECHNICAL SPECIFICATION
SCHEDULED SURVEILLANCE DUE TO
PROCEDURAL DEFICIENCY.

04/10/95

MS

95-002-00

AUTOMATIC REACTOR TRIP ON LOW
STEAM GENERATOR WATER LEVEL DUE
T0 A FAILED LEVEL TRANSMITTER

02/21/95

MS

95-001-00

LOW PRESSURE SAFETy INJECTION
PUMP FOUND TO BE INOPERABLE
DURING ASME QUARTERLY CODE RUN
DUE TO AIR BINDING.

02/21/95

MS

95-001-00

1A3 4160 VOLT BUS LOAD SHED
DURING REPLACEMENT OF FAILED
2X-5 RELAY DUE TO PROCEDURAL
DEFICIENCY .

02/16/95

94-010-01

REVISION TO: INADVERTENT B TRAIN
ENGINEERED SAFEGUARDS FEATURES
ACTUATION SIGNAL (ESFAS) DUE TO
A DEFICIENT INSTRUMENT AND
CONTROL TEST PROCEDURE.

11/24/94

95-009

MS

94-010-00

INADVERTENT B TRAIN ENGINEERED
SAFEGUARDS FEATURES ACTUATION
SIGNAL (ESFAS) DUE TO A
DEFICIENT INSTRUMENT AND CONTROL
TEST PROCEDURE

11/24/94

MS

94-009-01

REVISION TO: INADVERTENT SAFETY
INJECTION ACTUATION
SIGNAL/CONTAINMENT 1SOLATION
SIGNAL DUE TO AN INVALID HIGH
PRESSURIZER 